
Please ask for Democratic Services: Telephone 01775 764626 
e-mail: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

AGENDA

Committee - POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL

Date & Time - Wednesday, 6 November 2019 at 6.30 pm

Venue - Meeting Room 1, Council Offices, Priory Road, 
Spalding

Membership of the Policy Development Panel:

Councillors: J R Astill, J Avery, F Biggadike, M D Booth, H Drury, R A Gibson, M Hasan, 
J L King, J D McLean (Vice-Chairman), P A Redgate, J L Reynolds, G T D Rudkin, S-
A Slade, E J Sneath, S C Walsh and A R Woolf (Chairman)

Substitute members on the Policy Development Panel may be appointed only from 
members who are not on the Cabinet.  Substitutions apply for individual meetings.

Quorum: 6

Persons attending the meeting are 
requested to turn mobile telephones to silent 

mode

Democratic Services
Council Offices, Priory Road
Spalding, Lincs PE11 2XE

Date:   29 October 2019



A G E N D A

1. Apologies for absence. 

2. Minutes - To sign as a correct record the minutes of the meeting of the 
Policy Development Panel held on 24 September 2019 (copy enclosed)

(Pages 
5 - 12)

3. Declaration of Interests. - Where a Councillor has a Disclosable 
Pecuniary Interest the Councillor must declare the interest to the 
meeting and leave the room without participating in any discussion or 
making a statement on the item, except where a councillor is permitted 
to remain as a result of a grant of dispensation.

4. Questions asked under Standing Order 6 

5. Tracking of recommendations - To consider responses of the Cabinet 
reports of the Panel.  

6. Items referred from the Performance Monitoring Panel 

7. Key Decision Plan - To note the current Key Decision Plan (copy 
enclosed).  

(Pages 
13 - 18)

8. Policy Register - To note the current Policy Register (copy enclosed). (Pages 
19 - 26)

9. Housing Repairs Policy - To seek approval for adoption of the Housing 
Repairs and Fitness for Habitation Policy (report of the Portfolio Holder, 
Housing and Health enclosed).

(Pages 
27 - 40)

10. Review of HMO Licensing Policy - To update the Policy Development 
Panel on the licensing of Houses in Multiple Occupation in the first six 
months, following the implementation of the Council’s revised policy 
(report of the Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and the Executive 
Director Place enclosed).

(Pages 
41 - 44)

11. Review of the revised Allocations Policy - To update the Policy 
Development Panel on housing allocations following changes made to 
the Allocations Policy from April 2019 (report of the Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and Health and the Executive Director Place enclosed).

(Pages 
45 - 48)

12. Policy Development Panel Work Programme - To set out the Work 
Programme of the Policy Development Panel (report of the Executive 
Manager Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer) enclosed).

(Pages 
49 - 56)

13. Housing Income Management Policy - To note the proposed Housing 
Income Management Policy, recommended for approval by Cabinet on 
3 December 2019 (report of the Portfolio Holder Housing and Health 
enclosed).

Please note that appendices 2 and 3 associated with this report are not 
for publication by virtue of Paragraph 3 (Information relating to the 

(Pages 
57 - 72)



financial or business affairs of any particular person (including the 
authority holding that information)) in Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the 
Local Government Act 1972, and are therefore attached to this agenda 
as item 16).

14. Any other items which the Chairman decides are urgent. - 

NOTE: No other business is permitted unless by reason of special 
circumstances, which shall be specified in the minutes, the 
Chairman is of the opinion that the item(s) should be 
considered as a matter of urgency.  

15. Exclusion of Press and Public - To consider resolving that, under section 
100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press and public be 
excluded from the meeting for the following items of business on the 
grounds that they involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as 
defined in paragraph 3 of Schedule 12 (A) of the Act.

16. Housing Income Management Policy - Exempt appendices to the report 
at Agenda item 13 are enclosed.

(Pages 
73 - 80)



This page is intentionally left blank



- 8 -

Minutes of a meeting of the POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL held in Meeting Room 
1, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, on Tuesday, 24 September 2019 at 
6.30pm.

PRESENT

J D McLean (Vice-Chairman)

J R Astill
F Biggadike
J L King

P A Redgate
J L Reynolds
G T D Rudkin

S C Walsh

In Attendance:  The Place Manager, the Planning and Building Control Manager, the 
Housing Manager Landlord, the Human Resources Manager and the Democratic 
Services Officer.

Apologies for absence were received from or on behalf of Councillors J Avery, 
M D Booth, H Drury, S-A Slade, E J Sneath and A R Woolf 

Action By
15. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL 

Consideration was given to the minutes of the Policy 
Development Panel meeting held on 25 June 2019.

AGREED:

That the minutes be signed as a correct record.

16. JOINT MEETING OF THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL AND POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL 

Consideration was given to the minutes of the meeting of the Joint 
Performance Monitoring Panel and Policy Development Panel 
held on 16 July 2019.

AGREED:

That the minutes be agreed as a correct record.

17. DECLARATION OF INTERESTS. 

There were no declarations of interest.

18. QUESTIONS ASKED UNDER STANDING ORDER 6 

There were no questions asked under Standing Order 6.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2.



- 9 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 24 
September 2019

19. TRACKING OF RECOMMENDATIONS 

There were none.

20. ITEMS REFERRED FROM THE PERFORMANCE MONITORING 
PANEL 

There were no items referred from the Performance Monitoring 
Panel.

21. KEY DECISION PLAN 

Consideration was given to the Key Decision Plan dated 13 
September 2019.

AGREED:

That the Key Decision Plan be noted.

22. POLICY REGISTER 

The Panel gave consideration to the Policy Register dated 6 
September 2019.

The Housing Manager Landlord was in attendance to provide a 
verbal update on the status of the Asset Management Strategy.  
He advised that work was underway on the Asset Management 
Strategy however, the status currently showed as overdue on the 
Policy Register.  He explained that the major reason for this was 
the continued vacancy for the post of Strategic Property Manager.  
He advised that work was progressing on some areas of the 
Strategy however, there was a need to work jointly with 
colleagues in Delivery to draft the Asset Management Strategy.  

In addition, there was an added resource issue as the Property 
Asset Services Manager was shortly due to leave the Authority, 
and this post was currently being re-advertised.

In the meantime, priority items were being dealt with first.  Work 
on the Strategy would be brought forward as soon as was 
possible.

Following the update, the following issues were raised:

 Member asked whether the fact that the revised Strategy had 
not been approved was causing any operational problems.    

o Officers confirmed that although the delay caused a 
minor issue with regard to future planning, it was not 

Page 6



- 10 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 24 
September 2019

causing any operational issues.

 Members commented that, over the period they had been 
scrutinising the Policy Register more closely, there had been a 
great improvement in the  Register, and the status of the 
policies detailed within it.

AGREED:

That the Policy Register be noted.

23. ADDRESSING LONG TERM EMPTY HOMES 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Place which provided the Panel with an update on the current 
position of Empty Homes, work undertaken and the future 
development of an Empty Homes Strategy.

As the position on the number of long term empty homes was 
currently quite static, and performance was similar to other 
authorities, the report laid out proposals for moving forward with 
regard to how information on empty homes could be reported in 
the future, as follows:  

 It was suggested that, going forward, the consideration of 
performance be undertaken by the Performance Monitoring 
Panel.

 The Authority did not currently have an Empty Homes 
Strategy, but wanted to have one, to address properties that 
could be brought back into use.  The suggestion was that the 
Authority should have in place a Policy that sustained its 
current performance, whilst being mindful of other areas with 
private sector housing that also required focus.  It was 
suggested that a draft Empty Homes Strategy be presented to 
the Panel for consideration and feedback, at the appropriate 
time.

Members considered the report, and the following issues arose:

 With regard to the strategy, it was suggested that time frames 
for various stages within the process should be included.  

 In response to a member’s question asking whether there was 
any correlation between the rural nature of South Holland and 
the location of empty homes, officers advised that they were 
not aware of a pattern, but could look into this to ensure 
information was captured, if necessary.

 Members agreed that the suggestions to refer monitoring of 
empty homes to Performance Monitoring Panel, and that the 

Page 7



- 11 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 24 
September 2019

Policy Development Panel consider the draft strategy, were 
sensible.  

AGREED:

a) That the progress made on addressing Long Term Empty 
Homes be noted;

b) That performance on Empty Homes be monitored by the 
Performance Monitoring Panel; and

c) That further reports to the Panel would relate to the 
development of an Empty Homes Strategy.  

CM, JK

 
JK, PS 

24. COMMUNITY INFRASTRUCTURE LEVY 

Following a request at the last meeting of the Policy Development 
Panel, the Planning and Building Control Manager was in 
attendance to provide information on the Community 
Infrastructure Levy.

The Planning and Building Control Manager that the Community 
Infrastructure Levy (CIL) was a levy that local authorities could 
choose to charge, relating to new developments.  The CIL option 
had been considered by the South East Lincolnshire Joint 
Strategic Planning Committee, whilst considering the Local Plan, 
but the option had been rejected in favour of S106 agreements.  
He stated that the Committee’s position with regard to the CIL 
was evidence-based, and that constitutionally it was their decision 
to make.

Members considered the information provided and the following 
issues were raised:

 Members asked how they, and Parish Councils, could feed 
into the Supplementary Planning Document (SPD) with regard 
to their communities’ own priorities, and how a consensus 
would be reached if there was a difference of opinion?

o When considering the Supplementary Planning 
Document, the Joint Strategic Planning Committee 
would use the opportunity to engage with members, 
Parish Councils, infrastructure providers and the 
public to identify what their priorities were.  Until 
such time as the SPD was adopted, applications 
would continue to be dealt with on a case by case 
basis.  If there was a policy in place (the 
Supplementary Planning Document), officers would 
have a stronger base from which to negotiate.

Page 8



- 12 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 24 
September 2019

 Members commented that smaller villages were suffering from 
not having a CIL in place.

o The Planning and Building Control Manager stated 
that this was a fair point, as those villages that did 
have much planned development in their area would 
be less likely to benefit from  planning gain.  These 
areas would have an opportunity to make their case 
when applications came forward.  CIL could possibly 
be of benefit to smaller villages, but this depended 
on priorities and overall levels of money secured.  
As mentioned before, there would be an opportunity, 
while considering the Supplementary Planning 
Document for priorities to be identified, and it was 
important that to engage with parishes  throughout 
the process.   

The Vice-Chairman stated that it would be useful to set up a Task 
Group, but that at present, it would be difficult to set a clear scope 
for it.  He was of the view that there were two options for the Task 
Group to consider – whether CIL or SPD was a preferred option.  
The Task Group should also look at the arrangements with regard 
to funds being more available for villages.
 
Members also commented that with regard to CIL, that there were 
a number of different issues to be looked at and consideration 
should perhaps be given to liaising with authorities that had taken 
CIL forward and reporting this information back.

AGREED:

a) That the update provided by the Planning and Building Control 
Manager be noted.

b) That a Task Group be set up to consider the facts on the 
Community Infrastructure Levy (CIL) and the Supplementary 
Planning Document (SPD), with a view to reporting on a 
preference; that the Task Group start its work, and 
membership be agreed, at an appropriate time in the future; 
and that a scope be set at the first meeting of the Task Group.

RW, PN 
CM 

25. POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL WORK PROGRAMME 

The Panel considered a report by the Executive Manager – 
Governance setting out the work programme of the Panel.  The 
work programme consisted of two sections, the first setting out 
the dates of future panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration, and the second setting out Task Groups that had 

Page 9



- 13 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 24 
September 2019

been identified by the Panel.

At the last Panel meeting, the following issues had been raised 
under consideration of the Work Programme:

 Public Open Spaces Task Group – At its last meeting, 
Councillors had stated that they felt that this Task Group had 
stalled, and that it was awaiting a report back following 
consultation with Parish Councils.  It had been agreed that, as 
it was a joint Task Group with the Performance Monitoring 
Panel (PMP), that the Chairman of that Panel be approached 
to see if they would be happy for it to be encompassed into a 
new Task Group looking at Planning Design, that would be set 
up as a Policy Development Panel Task Group.  If not, the 
Planning Design Task Group could be set up as a joint Task 
Group the with PMP.

 Leisure Facilities Task Group – This was a joint Task Group 
with the PMP which reported to Cabinet in 2014 and tracking 
of recommendations considered by the Policy Development 
Panel (PMP) in February 2015.  At its last meeting, it had been 
agreed that, in consultation with PMP, this Task Group be 
removed from the programme.

Regarding the above points, the following issues were raised: 

 The Panel was advised that the PMP Chairman had been 
contacted regarding these two items, but that no further 
progress had been made.  Feedback would be provided to the 
next Panel meeting.      

 The Chairman requested that a separate column be added to 
the Work Programme to reflect when Task Groups were 
dormant.  He requested that the Open Spaces Task Group 
and the Leisure Services Task Group be shown as dormant 
until agreement had been received from the PMP Chairman.  

 Members commented that with regard to the proposed 
Planning Design Task Group, officers were undertaking work 
in this area and an update was therefore requested to 
members of the Task Group.

AGREED:

That the Work Programme be noted. 

CM 

26. ANY OTHER ITEMS WHICH THE CHAIRMAN DECIDES ARE 
URGENT. 

There were no urgent items.

Page 10



- 14 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 24 
September 2019

27. EXCLUSION OF PRESS AND PUBLIC 

DECISION:

That, under section 100A (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, 
the public be excluded from the meeting for the following item of 
business on the grounds that it involves the likely disclosure of 
exempt information as defined in Paragraph 4 of part 1 of 
Schedule 12A of the Act.

28. HONORARIUM POLICY 

Consideration was given to the report of the Executive Director 
Strategy and Governance and the Portfolio Holder Governance 
and Customer, which asked Panel member to consider a new 
Honorarium Policy.

South Holland District Council had an Honorarium Policy in place, 
which was last amended in June 2008.  The current policy only 
allowed an honorarium to be given if the post holder was 
undertaking the full duties of a higher graded post.  Human 
Resources practice was now that covering the full duties of 
another post was actually a secondment and was treated in that 
manner.  The new policy had been revised to ensure that it was fit 
for purpose and reflected the Council’s current and future 
workforce.

The following issues were raised:

 Members questioned how the process could be fair and 
consistent across the whole Authority, as it was down to 
managers to nominate staff.

o Officers advised that managers would need to 
submit an application form for each individual, and 
that this was considered by a Director and the 
Human Resources Board for consistency.  Individual 
officers could submit a formal or informal grievance 
if they wished.

 Members commented that the policy was similar to those 
within the private sector.  With regard to a budget for the 
scheme, it was important that this would sufficient for the 
policy to operate effectively.

AGREED:

That the Honorarium Policy be recommended to full Council for 
approval.

CB 

Page 11



- 15 -

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL - 24 
September 2019

(The meeting ended at 7.18 pm)

(End of minutes)

Page 12



KEY DECISION PLAN Issued – 29 October 2019

Representations in respect of all the matters shown should be sent in writing, at least one week before the date or period the decision 
is likely to be made, to: 

 Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

The Key Decision Plan shows all Key decisions that the Council is likely to make over the next twelve months

The Key Decision Plan is updated on a rolling basis and shows the decisions that will be considered and the date when the decision is 
expected to be made. In accordance with the Council’s Constitution the DECISIONS detailed within this document, unless otherwise 
stated, come into force and may then be implemented on the expiry of a 5 working day call-in period  from the date of publication of 
any decision.  

Key decisions are: “A decision which, in relation to an executive function, has a significant effect on communities in two or more 
Wards of the Council and / or is likely to result in the Authority incurring expenditure, generating income or making savings in any 
single financial year above the threshold of £75,000 in respect of revenue expenditure and £180,000 in respect of capital expenditure.”

Significant decisions are: 1. A decision made in connection with setting the Council Tax; 2. A decision to approve any matter relating 
to a Policy or Strategic Plan; 3. Any non-Executive decision which significantly affects the community in two or more wards or electoral 
divisions. Some of the decisions will be recommendations to full Council, particularly if they impact on the Budget and the Policy 
Framework (comprising of statutory plans and strategies)

PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION

P
age 13

A
genda Item

 7.

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION
Approval for 
Right of way over 
land at St 
Margarets 
Quadring

To grant approval to Seagate Homes 
for the Right of way over the land 
located at St Margaret's Quadring

Portfolio Holder for 
Communities and Facilities 
Before 30 Nov 2019

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

General Repairs 
- Maintenance of 
footpaths, 
roadways and 
boundary walls.

For the external general repairs for 
concrete footpaths, roadways and 
boundary walls, serving council 
dwellings and garages, which have 
reached the end of their lifespan and 
require replacement or repairs.

Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 30 Nov 
2019

Property 
acquisition to 
support Housing 
Options service 
delivery.

The authority is exploring the purchase 
of residential property to improve 
options to address housing need in the 
district.

Portfolio Holder for 
Housing and Health Before 
30 Nov 2019

P
age 14



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION
Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

Housing Income 
Management 
Policy

To seek approval of the Housing 
Income Management Policy

Cabinet 3 Dec 2019

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

Housing Repairs 
Policy

To approve the policy Cabinet 3 Dec 2019

Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

Chimney repairs, 
repointing and 
removal Contract

For the Chimney repairs, repointing 
and removal including Pitched roof 
repairs to various council dwellings as 
identified in reaching the end of their 
lifespan, or the chimney is no longer 
required.

Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 20 Dec 
2019

P
age 15



PORTFOLIO 
HOLDER / 
SUBJECT

PURPOSE OF DECISION CONSULTEES AND 
METHOD OF 

CONSULTATION

SUPPORTING 
DOCUMENTS

LIKELY DATE OF 
DECISION AND WHO 

WILL MAKE DECISION
Portfolio Holder 
for Housing and 
Health

Flat Roof 
replacement and 
repairs Contract

For the replacement of various types of 
flat roofs to Council Dwellings, 
outbuildings and garages, which have 
reached the end of their lifespan and 
require replacement or repairs.

Housing Landlord 
Manager Before 20 Dec 
2019

Portfolio Holder 
for Place

Daffodil Route 
Improvements

To provide an update on potential 
improvements to the Daffodil Route 
between Pinchbeck Road and Johnson 
Hospital utilising section 106 funding to 
improve health and well being 
opportunities

Cabinet 14 Jan 2020

*Cabinet Membership
The Lord Porter of Spalding CBE (Leader)
Councillor C N Worth (Deputy Leader of the Council)
Councillor G J Taylor (Deputy Leader)
Councillor T Carter (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor A Casson (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor P E Coupland (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor R Gambba-Jones (Portfolio Holder)
Councillor C J Lawton (Portfolio Holder)

P
age 16



If you have any comments or queries regarding any of the entries in the Key Decision Plan please contact:

Democratic Services, Council Offices, Priory Road, Spalding, Lincolnshire, PE11 2XE
Telephone: 01775 764451 Fax: 01775 711253 Email: demservices@sholland.gov.uk

P
age 17

mailto:demservices@sholland.gov.uk


T
his page is intentionally left blank



1

SHDC Policy Register
Generated on: 21 October 2019

Rows are sorted by End Date

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible scope)

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

Asset Management 
Strategy

Constitutional Yes 18-Jun-2014 5 years 18-Jun-2019 Pending 
Approval

The Housing 
Manager attended 
PDP in 
September to 
discuss this 
upcoming Policy 
review and how 
the Panel can 
influence this 
Policy, It was 
noted that delays 
to this policy were 
due to the 
vacancy of the 
Strategic Property 
Manager Post as 
well as the 
Property Asset 
services manager 
having left the 
organisation, 
however despite 
this work is 
progressing on 
key priority areas 

Jason King

P
age 19

A
genda Item

 8.



2

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible scope)

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

of this strategy 
and there are no 
key issues to 
raise.

Constitution Statutory No 18-Jan-2018 1 year 18-Jan-2020 Approved Changes continue 
to be made when 
and where 
necessary and 
agreed at Council 
on a regular 
basis.

Rhonda Booth

HR Policy Handbook Non Statutory Yes 18-Jan-2017 3 years 18-Jan-2020 Approved Claire Burton

AHM Collections 
Development Policy

Non Statutory No 01-Feb-2018 2 years 01-Feb-2020 Approved Policy been 
reviewed and 
amended.

Approval will be 
sought in Feb 
2020.

Julia Knight

AHM Collections 
Care and 
Conservation Policy

Non Statutory No 01-Feb-2018 2 years 01-Feb-2020 Approved Policy been 
reviewed and 
amended.

Approval will be 
sought in Feb 
2020.

Julia Knight

Corporate Plan Constitutional Yes 08-Mar-2018 1 year 01-Mar-2020 Approved Plan is reviewed 
annually  

Greg Pearson

Capital Strategy Constitutional Yes 27-Feb-2019 1 year 31-Mar-2020 Approved Samantha Knowles

Corporate Charging 
Policy - Accounting 

Constitutional Yes 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2020 Approved Samantha Knowles

P
age 20



3

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible scope)

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

Services
Medium Term 
Financial Strategy

Constitutional No 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2020 Approved Samantha Knowles

Treasury 
Management 
Strategy Statement

Constitutional No 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2020 Approved Samantha Knowles

Treasury Policy 
Statement & Clauses 
to be Adopted

Constitutional No 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2020 Approved Samantha Knowles

Minimum Revenue 
Provision Policy 
Statement

Constitutional No 08-Mar-2018 1 year 31-Mar-2020 Approved Samantha Knowles

Corporate Debt 
Policy - Accounting 
Services

Non Statutory Yes 25-Jul-2017 3 years 25-Jul-2020 Approved This will be 
reviewed as per 
the schedule

Samantha Knowles

Sexual 
Establishments 
Policy Statement

Non Statutory Yes 06-Sep-2017 3 years 06-Sep-2020 Approved Donna Hall

Health & Safety 
Policy

Statutory No 22-Nov-2017 3 years 22-Nov-2020 Approved This has been 
completed and 
reviewed by EMT, 
will be reviewed 
again in Nov 2019

Emily Ferrier; Nick 
Kendrick

Unreasonable 
Behaviour and 
vexatious requests

Non Statutory Yes 21-Nov-2017 3 years 21-Nov-2020 Approved Sarah 
Wolstenholme-Smy

Counter Fraud and 
Corruption Policy

Non Statutory Yes 14-Dec-2017 3 years 14-Dec-2020 Approved Faye Haywood

Whistleblowing 
Policy - Confidential 

Statutory Yes 14-Dec-2017 3 years 14-Dec-2020 Approved Faye Haywood

P
age 21



4

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible scope)

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

Reporting Code
Statement of 
Licensing Policy

Constitutional Yes 07-Jan-2016 5 years 07-Jan-2021 Approved Statutory 
requirement to 
review every 5 
years  

Donna Hall

Data Protection 
Policy

Statutory No 29-May-2018 3 years 29-May-2021 Approved Agreed at 29th 
May Cabinet

Kirsty Mallett

Corporate 
Enforcement Policy

Non Statutory Yes 29-May-2018 3 years 29-May-2021 Approved Sarah Shipley

Equalities Policy Non Statutory Yes 26-Jun-2018 3 years 26-Jun-2021 Approved Equalities policy is 
being presented 
at the 26th June 
PDP

Ross Bangs

Freedom of 
Information (FoI) 
Policy

Statutory No 26-Jun-2018 3 years 26-Jun-2021 Approved FOI policy is 
being presented 
at the 26th June 
PDP

Ross Bangs

Street Naming and 
Numbering Policy

Statutory Yes 01-Nov-2018 3 years 01-Nov-2021 Approved Draft received and 
approved for sign 
off at PDP in 
September 2018

Clinton Bell

Hate Crime Policy Non Statutory No 01-Nov-2018 3 years 01-Nov-2021 Approved superceded by 
county policy - 
internal 
procedures will be 
updated as per 
agreement wth 
policy panel

Dee Bedford

Safeguarding Policy Statutory No 20-Nov-2018 3 years 01-Nov-2021 Approved Donna Hall

Gambling Policy - 
Statement of 

Constitutional Yes 28-Nov-2018 3 years 28-Nov-2021 Approved Approved at 
SHDC full council 

Donna Hall

P
age 22



5

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible scope)

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

Principles 28/11/18
Records 
Management Policy

 Yes  3 years 01-Jan-2022 Pending 
Approval

Kirsty Mallett

Strategic Tenancy 
Policy

Statutory No 01-Feb-2019 3 years 01-Feb-2022 Approved Caroline Hannon 
Attended PDP  in 
Feb where it was 
agreed to go to 
Senior Officers to 
determine the 
appetite for 
reviewing, the 
Panel were 
satisfied that 
officers would 
determine if there 
was an appetite 
for this.

All councils are 
told to have a 
strategic tenancy 
policy, but this inst 
one that needs a 
formal review at 
this stage

Matthew Hogan

Anti-Social Behaviour 
Policy

Statutory Yes 01-May-2019 3 years 01-Mar-2022 Approved The ASB Policy 
has been 
approved as it is 
currently that of 
the Lincolnshire 
County Council 
one. The County 
one is currently 

Dee Bedford

P
age 23



6

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible scope)

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

out for 
consultation as it 
has been updated 
in line with new 
recommendations 
from the victims 
commissioner, 
any updated on 
this will be fed 
through to PDP

South Holland 
Common Housing 
Allocations Policy

Statutory No 01-Jun-2019 3 years 01-Mar-2022 Approved This policy has 
been approved by 
PDP and is now 
going through the 
final process of 
approval

Phil Stacey

HMO Licencing 
Policy

Statutory Yes 12 March 2019 3 years March 2022 Approved Phil Stacey

Private Sector 
Housing 
Enforcement Policy

Statutory Yes 12 March 2019 3 years March 2022 Approved Phil Stacey

Affordable Housing 
Policy

Non Statutory Yes 01-Apr-2019 3 years 01-Apr-2022 Approved This Policy has 
approved within 
the Local Plan, It 
has been agreed 
there doesn't 
need to be a 
separate housing 
strategy, this has 
now been formally 
adopted in line 
with the Local 
Plan

Matthew Hogan

P
age 24



7

Policy Title Policy Type Can Policy be 
influenced 
(flexible scope)

Approved Date Policy Review 
Cycle 

End Date Policy Status Latest Note Assigned To

Taxi Licensing Policy Non Statutory Yes 01-Jun-2019 3 years 01-Jun-2022 Approved Donna Hall

 

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health 

To: Policy Development Panel, 6 November 2019
Cabinet, 3 December 2019

(Author: Chris Mycock Housing Repairs Manager)

Subject Housing Repairs Policy.

Purpose: To seek approval for adoption of the Housing Repairs and Fitness for 
Habitation Policy.

Recommendation(s): 

1) That Members consider the Housing Repairs and Fitness for Habitation Policy.

2) That amendments to the appendices of the Policy are delegated to the Housing Landlord 
Services Manager in consultation with the Portfolio for Housing and Health.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 In 2017, the council undertook a fundamental review of a number of Place based services. 
This included all teams within the Housing Service. The focus on the review was to meet 
identified savings targets; re-design services to address long-standing cultural and 
performance issues; To future proof the services so that they are well placed to meet 
service demands; To ensure best value and high performance in the delivery of frontline 
services. A phased approach of these objectives has been accomplished with the teams 
now able to move to further process and procedural redesign and technological 
improvements. 

1.2 The Council is responsible for most of the repairs of its housing stock, the legal framework 
that obliges Council's to maintain their stock is outlined in:

 The Tenancy Agreement
 Landlord and Tenant Act 1985
 Fitness for Human Habitation Act 2018

1.2 We will ensure that the policy sufficiently defines the responsibilities of the Council (as a 
Landlord) and the tenant.  It will ensure that the tenants are aware of what their 
responsibilities are and what their rights are in relation to repairs, maintenance and 
improvements to their Council property.

1.4 The Housing Repairs and Fitness for Habitation Policy sets out the Council's overall 
approach to maintaining and repairing its housing stock to a habitable standard as 
reflected in the legal obligations mentioned above.

1.5 The policy sets out in detail:

Page 27

Agenda Item 9.



 What repairs we will carry out
 Within what time scales we will carry repairs out
 What repairs we will recharge a tenant for
 What we class as an emergency repair and within what timescales we will respond 

to emergency repairs
 The tenant's rights in regards to repairs
 The tenant's responsibilities in regards to repairs
 What permissions tenant's will require to carry out alterations or improvements.
 The minimum standard that we will bring a property up to before re-letting it.

1.6 Once approved, the policy will give a clear understanding, in terms of repairs and 
maintenance, as to what is expected of the Council as a Landlord but equally what is 
expected of the tenant in terms of looking after their home. The policy states clearly the 
tenant's responsibilities and rights and enables the Council to have a fair and consistent 
approach to repairing our stock.

1.7 This policy deals with what repairs we are able to charge for, it should be noted that the 
Housing Income Policy deals with the levels of those charges and therefore both policies 
should be read in conjunction with each other.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the Housing Repairs and Fitness for Habitation Policy is approved for consideration by 
the Policy Development Panel and amendments to the appendices of the Policy are 
delegated to the Housing Landlord Services Manager in consultation with the Portfolio 
Holder for Housing and Health

2.2 Do nothing and continue to operate with the existing policy.  However it should be noted 
that this will not provide a mechanism for recharging repairs as outlined in the Housing 
Income Policy.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The Policy clearly sets out the responsibilities of both the Council as a Landlord and those 
of the tenant.  This gives the tenant clear expectations that can be managed whilst 
ensuring there is no ambiguity as to what they are responsible for and what is expected of 
them as a tenant of the Council.

3.2 Adopting the policy will enable us to clearly state when a recharge for a repair caused by 
damage or neglect is applicable, thus allowing us to recuperate costs where applicable.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The policy will enable us to be consistent and maintain our stance when liaising with 
tenants on what repairs can be expected to be undertaken.  As the message that the policy 
seeks to give gets embedded amongst our tenants it is anticipated that the number of calls 
will reduce.  In particular we will receive fewer repeat calls where a tenant is insistent we 
carry out a repair that is their responsibility - this is because the policy is clear on who is 

Page 28



responsible for what.

4.2 As the policy sets out the tenant's responsibilities and therefore what repairs they are 
responsible for we will see a reduction in repairs appointments that we currently attend.  
This will mean a reduction in costs and thus a budget saving as we will attend fewer 
appointments.

4.3 In addition, where we attend an appointment that the policy states is a rechargeable repair  
we will be in a position to administer that charge and recuperate the cost.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues
5.1.1 The policy sets out clearly what is the tenant's responsibility and what is the Council's. 

There is likelihood that we will attend fewer repairs than previously thus potentially 
reducing, albeit a minor amount, our carbon footprint.

5.2 Corporate Priorities
5.2.1 The policy promotes our priority of providing the right services, at the right time and in the 

right way and also supports our ambition to have pride in South Holland by supporting our 
residents to develop and thrive.

5.3 Crime and Disorder
5.3.1 The policy places an emphasis on the tenant to pay for wilful damage, this could deter 

some tenants from deliberately damaging the property.

5.4 Financial
5.4.1 The policy will reduce the amount of repairs having to be undertaken by our Housing 

Repairs Team thus reducing our costs, there is also the potential to recuperate charges via  
the recharging element of the policy.

5.5 Health & Wellbeing
5.5.1 The aim of the policy is not only to set out roles and responsibilities but by doing so to 

improve the standards of our accommodation, better living conditions will have a positive 
impact on the tenant's health and wellbeing.

5.6 Reputation
5.6.1 The Council aspires to be a Landlord of choice and continue to build a strong reputation.  In 

order to deliver strong outcomes for customers clearly setting out our expectations and 
responsibilities will further drive this forward.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 We carry out repairs in all the Wards within our district so all wards and communities are 
affected.

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 n/a 

Page 29



Background papers:- none

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Chris Mycock Housing Repairs Manager
Telephone Number 01775 764831
Email: cmycock@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: N 

Exempt Decision: N

This report refers to a Mandatory Service

Appendices attached to this report: 
Appendix A Housing Repairs and Fitness for Habitation Policy.

Page 30



1

Housing Repairs and Fitness for Habitation Policy 

Introduction
The purpose of this document is to set out the Council’s overall approach to repairs due on the 
following tenures:

 Interim and temporary accommodation licenses
 Introductory and secure tenancies
 Leaseholders e.g. flats purchased through the Right to Buy and shared owners  

This policy does not relate to any properties that the Council manages on behalf of a private 
landlord.  

The Council’s repairs service comprises a significant part of the day-to-day work undertaken by 
the Housing Repairs Team.  The Council is responsible for repairing and maintaining:

 The structure and exterior of the property (including drains, gutters, external pipes, 
windows, outside doors, roofs and external decoration);

 The installations in the property for the supply of water, gas and electricity and for sanitation 
(including basins, sinks, baths and sanitary conveniences but not other fixtures, fittings and 
equipment for making use of the supply of water, gas or electricity);

 The installations in the property for heating and heating water.
 All communal areas such as shared entrance doors, staircases, hallways, lighting in 

corridors and door-entry systems.

This policy outlines South Holland District Council’s position with regard to the day-to-day 
responsive repairs. The policy will act as guidance for all housing repair, maintenance and where 
required, improvement issues.  

Legal Framework 
The Council is responsible for most of the repairs to its housing stock. The Council’s main 
repairing and fitness for habitation obligations are outlined in its tenancy agreement, in the 
Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 and the Fitness for Human Habitation Act 2018, which makes sure 
that certain repairing and improvement obligations are written into every tenancy agreement. 

The Council must also demonstrate regard for the following legislation in its decision making:

 Protection from Eviction Act 1977 
 Law of Property Act 1925, 
 General Data Protection Rules 2018
 Freedom of Information Act 2000, 
 Human Rights Act 1998 
 Equality Act 2010.

Aims and objectives 
The strategic aim is to deliver a high quality customer focused repairs and maintenance service.

We aim to achieve this by:
 Providing customer focused services
 Working in partnership with appointed contractors
 Developing and publishing standards for the whole service
 Achieving and maintaining the Government’s Decent Homes Standard and ensuring 

compliance with legislation and any applicable Regulations including the Fitness for Human 
Habitation Act 2018 

Page 31



2

 Ensuring services provide best value and are continuously reviewed and improved.

We will maintain our housing stock by responding to repair, and where appropriate, improvement 
needs and prioritising those jobs according to needs and circumstance.  Planned preventative 
maintenance will be completed with emphasis on work that is the Council’s statutory duty to 
complete in a timely way, for example gas safety checks that must be completed in each twelve-
month period. Improvement works, both planned and where urgent will be carried out on building 
components that need upgrading because of the age and condition of those components.

Performance monitoring 
The targets for repairs are set annually, and performance is kept under review through individual 
and team meetings, and performance reports.  

How we prioritise repairs and response times
Although the Council intends to respond to every repair as quickly as possible, it is necessary to 
categorise repairs and give some repairs a higher priority than others. Repairs will be categorised 
as follows:

 Emergency repairs - attend within 4 hours out of office hours, within 8 hours during office 
hours 

 Routine repairs - to be completed where practicable within 20 working days.

Repairs out of hours
Only emergency repairs are conducted outside of office hours.  An emergency repair is something 
that would:  

 Put people in danger 
 Make the property unsafe
 Cause damage to the property that is costly to repair
 Make existing damage worse; 
 Create unreasonable risk, suffering or difficulty.

Chargeable repairs
Tenants are responsible for carrying out repairs or tasks such as internal decorating, changing 
lightbulbs (except sealed units), replacing bath and sink plugs and unblocking sinks, baths or 
showers etc. 

Tenants are also responsible for repairing deliberate or accidental damage caused by members of 
their household or visitors. Tenants will be charged for repairs that are their responsibility. Tenants 
and former tenants will be held responsible for costs incurred by the Council if they fail to leave the 
property in reasonable condition and cleared of all personal effects when the tenancy ends.  

We will charge tenants for repair work including (not an exhaustive list):
 Work that is not the responsibility of the landlord
 Rectifying work they have carried out without the necessary written permission or is 

substandard
 Repairs that are required as a result of misuse, vandalism or damage (accidental or 

deliberate) to the property
 Rectifying damage caused by failure to comply with reporting repairs or failure to maintain 

their own equipment 
 Changing the locks of and/or securing the property if the property is abandoned 
 Abuse of the emergency out of hours repair service for non-emergency repairs
 Replacing missing or broken keys 
 Clearing the garden of excessive rubbish or to bring the garden back in line with our lettings 

standard

Page 32



3

 Any repairs agreed by the landlord and tenant to support the sustainment of the tenancy.  
 Missed appointments - where an appointment date and time has been agreed and the 

tenant is not at home at the agreed date and time.

Tenants will be required to pay for non-emergency repairs up front and in full before they are 
completed.  Alternatively, they can arrange for the work to be completed by a private contractor; 
however it will need to be up to Council standard and in accordance with the current Building 
Regulations.

Please see the Housing Income policy (presume this exists?) for information on how the money is 
collected.  
  
Vandalism or damage caused by crime not attributable to the tenant, a member of the household 
or visitor will not be recharged so long as a police crime number can be supplied. Action will be 
taken, with other agencies, against the perpetrators wherever possible. 

Wilful damage
The tenant is responsible for any abuse or damage caused to the property and will normally be 
charged for the cost of the work. 

In the case of accidental damage, the Council will consider the circumstances in deciding the level 
of charge that will be made. 

We will insist on receiving a Police crime reference number in order to carry out a repair for 
criminal damage.  Repairs will be charged to the tenant where there is no crime reference number.   
Where there is evidence of tenants repeatedly reporting criminal damage to their home, then we 
reserve the right to carry out investigations with the Police to verify the authenticity of these claims. 
If the investigations determine that the damage was not caused by criminal activity or burglary, the 
tenant will be asked to pay for the repair. 

We reserve the right to seek possession of the property if the damages are excessive and/or 
deliberate and as a result of the tenant/their visitors.  

Inspections
This section applies to all tenures.  Maintenance and improvement issues usually require pre-
inspection visits.  

An inspector may visit after work is complete to check that the work has been completed to an 
acceptable standard.  We aim to carry out ‘post inspections’ on approximately 10% of repair jobs 
carried out.

Notice will be given for inspections. Please see the ‘access’ section below for more information.   

Access
Council staff and any other persons authorised by South Holland District Council may at some 
time need to access a property, for example, access may be needed to inspect the state of a 
repair or to carry out repairs to the home of an adjoining property.

Under the tenancy agreement, tenants must allow access. We will give advance notice unless the 
access is required in an emergency.  In an emergency, we will make all reasonable attempts to 
contact the tenant to obtain access.  However, should we fail to make contact, or it not be 
reasonable in the circumstances to contact them, the Council, or any person authorised by the 
Council, has the right to enter the property without giving notice. 

Page 33



4

An emergency includes but is not limited to situations where:
 There is an imminent risk of physical harm to any person, or
 There is significant damage to the property or any other property in the locality, or 
 The property is unoccupied and inadequately secured against unauthorised entry or 

vandalism.  

We, our contractors or agents may do whatsoever is reasonably required to deal with the 
emergency in an appropriate manner.  We will make good any damage caused when entering the 
property and will secure the property against unauthorised entry.   The tenant may be liable for 
any costs incurred by their failure to provide reasonable access in an emergency, when access 
has been unreasonably refused, or if the emergency is caused from neglect.

Access also includes tenants providing working space for work to take place; tenants are therefore 
responsible for moving furniture and lifting carpets to allow repairs to be done as well as refitting of 
those items after work is completed.  

Carpeting and laminate flooring that is supplied and fitted by tenants is their responsibility. If they 
have to be lifted to carry out a repair the Council will avoid unnecessary damage but cannot be 
held responsible for the unavoidable disturbance that may take place.

The contractor will be told about the access arrangements that have been made with the tenant 
when the repair was reported. Should the tenant not be at home when the contractor calls, the 
contractor will leave a card informing the tenant that they called while the tenant was not at home.  
Unless a tenant makes new access arrangements, the job may be cancelled.

Door Step Security is an issue that the Council takes very seriously. All staff and contractors carry 
identification.  

Gas
This section does not apply to leaseholders.  Under Gas Safety (installation and use) 
(Amendment) Regulations 2018 landlords are responsible in certain circumstances for making 
sure that gas installation and appliances are maintained in good order and checked for safety at 
least every 12 months. A record of checks must be kept and a copy must be given to tenants. 

Failure to permit access will result in a court injunction or formal Notice Seeking Possession (the 
first step to Court Proceedings and a claim for Court costs).    

Previous tenant fixtures and fittings
When a mutual exchange is arranged for a property, we will inspect the property to establish any 
outstanding repairs that are the tenant’s responsibility. These repairs must be completed before 
the exchange takes place. An inspector will inspect the property to confirm that all the repair works 
have been completed before the exchange date.

If a tenant obtains a tenancy by way of succession, assignment or mutual exchange, and the 
previous tenant made improvements to their home, the new tenant ‘steps into the shoes’ of the 
outgoing tenant and is responsible for the repair, upkeep and replacement of any improvements. 

We may not maintain items left by previous tenants and may remove them as an alternative to 
carrying out repairs. We will only maintain those fixtures and fittings installed by previous tenants 
that the Council has a responsibility or wish to provide.

Page 34



5

Right to improve the property 
This section applies to introductory and secure tenants, and leaseholders.   
Tenants are required to request prior permission to carry out alterations to a property and 
permission will not be refused unreasonably. Improvements, structural alterations and additions 
include (this list is not exhaustive):

 Alterations to the gas, electrical and water installations including central heating;
 Installing security grills on doors and/or windows;
 Kitchen and bathroom alterations;
 Internal door alterations ;
 Installing floor tiles, laminate or wooden flooring (or flooring of a similar nature);
 Installing security lighting or CCTV;
 Installing sheds, other structures, ponds, pools, garden walls or patios;
 Removing, replacing or installing fencing;
 Installing wood burning stoves;
 Adding textured coatings to the internal walls and/or ceilings;
 Painting, adding render or other external finish to the exterior.

The property will be inspected upon receipt of an improvement request by a Housing 
Neighbourhood Officer/Property Assessor depending on the level of work involved.  If allowed, 
permission will always be given in writing. Leaseholders may also have to ask for our permission 
for some home improvements. 

We will not allow certain improvements – see appendix 1 for more information.  We won’t refuse 
permission if we think the improvements are reasonable, but the work must meet our standards. 
We will inspect the work when it’s finished to check that it meets our standards. If the work does 
not meet our standards, we will complete the work and charge the tenant.  

When tenants move out of their home, they may have a legal right to compensation for 
improvements (as long as we gave our permission for the improvements in writing).  Tenants must 
submit a request for compensation.  

Right to repair 
This right applies to secure tenants only.  Secure tenants have a statutory right to certain repairs 
within timescales set by Government in Right to Repair legislation. The Council will provide such 
repairs within the required timescales and provide compensation where timescales are not met. 
The Secure Tenants of Local Housing Authorities (Right-to-Repair) Regulations 1994 require 
landlords to carry out some small urgent repairs if they are likely to affect someone’s health, safety 
or security. Right to repair only includes repairs that cost less than £250. The time limits do not 
apply if the cost of the repair is more than £250. If the repair is not carried out within set time limits, 
then the tenant has the right to ask us to source an alternative contractor to do the work. If the 
second contractor does not complete the work within the extra time allowed, compensation may 
be payable. The compensation is fixed by the legislation at £10, plus £2 for every day that the 
repair is not finished, up to a limit of £50.

Lettings standard
From time to time, it may be necessary to undertake repairs between lettings and therefore repairs 
will be completed to ensure it meets our letting standard. The property will have no Category One 
hazards and will meet the Fitness for Human Habitation Act 2018. Please see appendix 2 for more 
information.  
Data Protection

Page 35



6

Officers will treat all information about customers and service users with the utmost confidentiality 
and comply with the requirement of the General Data Protection Regulation Act 2018 (and 
subsequent amendments).  

Appendix 

 1. Right to improvements
We will not allow improvements to a property unless exceptional circumstances exist.  If 
exceptional circumstances exist then each case will be assessed on its own individual merits.

In particular the following improvements will not be permitted (the list is not exhaustive) 
 Extensions 
 Conservatories
 Partitioning walls to create extra bedrooms/living space
 Upgrades to lighting or electrical systems (such as spot lights in kitchens or bathrooms)
 Loft conversions
 Ponds or Pools
 Wood Burning Stoves

Recharges will apply for us to reinstate to any alterations or improvements made by a tenants 
without prior consent to the original state or condition.

2. Minimum Lettings standard
Upon a property becoming vacant we will carry out an inspection to see what work is required to 
bring the property up to a lettable standard.  Some of the required work may be able to be carried 
out after the new tenant has moved in - this will be upon agreement with all parties.

Therefore, when a prospective tenant is shown around a Council property it may not meet our 
Letting Standard and it should be explained to the prospective tenant that we will follow the 
process below:

Before the property is re-let we will:

 Ensure that the property is safe and secure, wind and water tight.
 Carry out an electrical safety check and ensure that all electrical switches and fittings are in 

place and are in safe working order.
 Have gas safety checks carried out and CP12 gas certificate produced.
 Ensure there is some form of heating and a source of hot water.
 Have an electrical cooker and/or gas cooker point.
 Have a working, clean and usable toilet, sink and bath or shower.
 Ensure that all floors are safe, clean and able to accept floor coverings.
 Make sure that all living areas are free from rubbish.
 Issue you with a full set of keys, once you have signed for your new tenancy.
 Remove any outside rubbish and arrange a trim/clear of the garden if needed.
 Ensure the property is clean and tidy.

On the day of sign up we will inform the tenant that:

 The gas and electricity may be turned off and that they are responsible for contacting 
suppliers to arrange connection.

Page 36



7

 They are responsible for connecting their own white goods and that cookers should be 
connected by a qualified and competent person.

Sometimes we will carry out non-essential repairs after the tenant has moved in, these will be 
minor repairs that would not prevent the property being re-let.  For example adjusting or replacing 
some kitchen cupboard doors or replacing a double glazed unit that where the seal has failed.  
Any non-essential repairs appointments will be arranged via a mutually convenient appointment 
with the tenant once they have moved in.

Decoration
We do not redecorate properties before new tenants move in. However, in circumstances where 
the property is in poor decorative state a decorating allowance in the form of decorating vouchers 
may be awarded.  This is on a case by case basis and will be discussed with the tenant at the 
point of signing the new tenancy.

3. Who is responsible for repairs?

1. Outside the property South Holland Tenant

Communal Areas

Communal internal areas such as lifts,
stairways, halls and entrances, entry phones, laundries, 
stairway lighting and TV aerials

✓

Roof

Roof structure, covering, chimney, guttering,
rainwater pipes and clips, fascia, soffit and bargeboards

✓

External Walls

External walls and rendering ✓

Windows

Window frames and external sills ✓

Glazing ✓

Window catches and handles ✓

Window vents ✓

Doors

External doors, frames and other boards, such as 
weatherboards

✓

Repairing of faulty external door locks and
Hinges

✓

Replacement, lost or additional door keys ✓

Door entry systems ✓

Door numbers, letter plates and letter boxes ✓

Pipes and Drains

Page 37



8

Soil and vent pipes ✓

Drains, gully surrounds and gully grids ✓

Drain blockage if pipework not faulty ✓

Gardens and Boundaries
Boundary fencing and gates ✓

Communal gardens and open areas ✓

Gardens ✓

Paths, steps and other ways of access, if owned
by South Holland District Council

✓

Communal washing lines and posts ✓

Non-communal washing lines and posts ✓

Dustbins and household rubbish ✓

Garages and Outbuildings
Garages and outbuildings ✓

Garden sheds or buildings erected by tenants ✓

Gaining Entry
Gaining entry after loss of keys ✓

Changing locks where the tenant is seen to beat risk or 
vulnerable (this is decided at the
Council’s judgement)

✓ ✓

Fencing
Fence panels within 1 metre of the public highway (footpath 
or road)

✓

All other fencing that doesn’t fall in the above category ✓

2. Inside the property 
Doors
Internal doors, including frames, handles, hinges, locks, 
jambs and thresholds

✓

Carpet strips ✓

Walls and Ceilings
Ceilings (but not painting and decorating) ✓

Internal walls ✓

Plaster work and plaster air vents ✓

Floors
Skirting boards ✓

Floors - main structure and the Council's standard Vinyl 
floor tiles

✓

Floors - all other floor types or coverings - such as laminate, 
carpets and non-standard vinyl flooring

✓

Staircase
Staircase, banisters and handrails ✓

Bathroom

Page 38



9

Bath panels ✓

Wooden airing cupboard panels, door frames and shelving ✓

Internal pipework boxing ✓

Kitchen
Kitchen cupboards. (Cupboards which cannot be repaired 
will be replaced but may not match the existing style)

✓

Cupboard drawers ✓

Cupboard door catches, handles and
drawer handles

✓

Worktops ✓

Electrical
Electrical wiring, sockets and light fittings ✓

Wired-in smoke alarms ✓

Consumer unit ✓

Electric storage heaters ✓

Electric meter and supply of electricity
(Tenant and Utility Company)

✓

Immersion heaters ✓

Disconnection and reconnection of cookers, washing 
machines and all other white goods

✓

Extractor fans ✓

Light bulbs - strip fluorescent kitchen lights and sealed 
bathroom lights

✓

All other light bulbs ✓

Plumbing
Water service pipes, overflow pipes and water tanks ✓

Taps and stop taps ✓

Shower trays ✓

Electric shower units, if fitted by South Holland District 
Council

✓

Toilet flushing systems ✓

Toilet seats in designated elderly accommodation ✓

Toilet seats all other accommodation ✓

Plugs and chains ✓

Bath, hand basin and toilet ✓

Seal to bath and sink unit ✓

Bleeding radiators* (✓) ✓

Gas
Gas pipework ✓

Page 39



10

 * Tenants are actively encouraged to bleed their own radiators but we are able to assist if circumstances prevent 
them from doing so.

Supply of gas and gas meter (Tenant and
Utility Company)

✓

Gas fires, if fitted by South Holland District Council ✓

Gas warm air vents ✓

Cleaning of gas warm air filters, if accessible on the front of 
unit

✓

Radiators, valve, time clocks and
Thermostats

✓

Disconnection and reconnection of cookers ✓

3. Home Security
Extra door and window locks, if fitted by
South Holland District Council

✓

Security chains and spyholes, if fitted by
South Holland District Council

✓

4. Home Energy Efficiency
Draught-proofing to external doors, if fitted
by South Holland District Council

✓

Separate hot-water cylinder jackets ✓

5. Deliberate Damage
Any deliberate damage is the responsibility
of the tenant and rechargeable

✓

6. Infestation
Detailed information on pests can be found on the Council’s 
website

✓

Page 40



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and Executive Director - Place

To: Policy Development Panel Wednesday, 6 November 2019 

Author: Jason King, Housing Landlord Services Manager

Subject Review of HMO Licensing Policy

Purpose: To update the Policy Development Panel on the licensing of Houses in 
Multiple Occupation in the first six months following the implementation of 
the Council’s revised policy. 

Recommendation(s): 

1) To note the update in the content of the report.  

1.0   BACKGROUND

1.1  The Housing Act 2004 introduced a new mandatory licensing system for certain types of 
Houses in Multiple Occupation (HMO’s). Following the consultation by central government in 
late 2015, Statutory Instrument 2018 No 221 was issued. From 1st October 2018 the scope of 
licenses was increased to include all HMO’s occupied by 5 or more people in 2 or more 
households. On 12th March 2019, Cabinet approved the council’s revised HMO Licencing 
policy. Following the introduction of the policy the Policy Development Panel requested an 
update on progress made six months after implementation. 

1.2 Under the revised policy the council have issued 43 licences with a further 15 licences currently 
in progress. The current licence application fee is £545 and the estimated income from current 
licence applications is approximately £31,000.

  
1.3 The issuing of a licence can be a time consuming process for the council. The council initially 

receive an application from the landlord and then the property is assessed to consider its 
suitability to be a HMO. Landlords may then be required to undertake works to their properties 
before a licence can be issued. Once the Council is satisfied that the property should be 
licenced and there are no objections, a formal licence is issued and monitoring arrangements 
are set to ensure the licence is effective.

 
1.4 To date, the Council has largely been licencing known HMO’s. However, the Council receives 

information from partner agencies, such as the Police and Fire Service on a weekly basis of 
suspected HMO’s.  The team will then undertake investigations to ensure that landlords are 
fulfilling their duties. Currently there are 49 properties identified by partners, suspected of being 
unlicensed HMO’s which require follow up visits from the Council. 

Page 41

Agenda Item 10.



1.5 Additional information is also received from Council Tax colleagues in Public Sector 
Partnership Services when suspected HMO’s are identified. There are approximately 220 
properties which are currently suspected HMO’s and require follow up visits. 

1.6 It should be noted that not all HMO’s require licencing and therefore landlords are always given 
an opportunity to satisfy the Council of the use of their properties before formal action is taken.

1.7 Under the licencing policy the Council can issue licences for up to 5 years. Where landlords fail 
to apply for a licence in a timely manner or to provide required information a licence will be 
issued for a shorter period. To date, the Council has issued 14 licences to landlords for a 1 
year period. At the expiry of a 1 year licence a landlord will be required to reapply for a new 
licence where the application fee is payable again.  

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the panel note the progress made on licencing HMO’s during the first six months of the 
revised licencing policy. 

2.2 Option 2- Do nothing. 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The Council is required to have a HMO licencing policy that is compliant with current 
legislation. The policy is intended to ensure the council upholds appropriate legislation whilst 
seeking to ensure engagement with private landlords. Where landlords fail to comply with 
licencing requirements, enforcement action will be taken in accordance with the Private Sector 
Housing Enforcement Policy.  

4.0 IMPLICATIONS

4.1 Constitution & Legal
4.1.1 If enforcement action is considered necessary there would be legal implications in taking 

these matters forward.

4.2 Financial 
4.2.1 HMO licencing will generate an income for the council in the form of licence fees. The 

licence is usually for a 5 year period but on occasions licences will be issued for only 1 
year. Where this occurs the licence fee will become payable again on expiry. Where it is 
necessary to take enforcement action income may be generated from enforcement notices. 

 
4.3 Health & Wellbeing
4.3.1 There is a positive link between increasing the supply of housing, along with investing the 

condition of private housing in the district and the broader Health and Wellbeing agenda.

4.4 Staffing
4.4.1 HMO Licencing is a generic function across all Private Sector Housing Officers.

5.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

5.1 All Wards

Page 42



6.0 ACRONYMS

6.1 HMO – Houses in Multiple Occupation.

Background papers: - N/A. 

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Jason King, Phil Stacey
Telephone Number 764671
Email: JasonKing@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: N 

Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: N/A.  

Page 43



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health and Executive Director - Place

To: Policy Development Panel Wednesday, 6 November 2019

Author: Jason King, Housing Landlord Services Manager

Subject Review of the revised Allocations Policy

Purpose: To update the Policy Development Panel on housing allocations following 
changes made to the Allocations Policy from April 2019. 

Recommendation(s):

That panel members note the content of report. 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 In 2018 the Policy Development Panel considered recommendations to review the 
Council’s allocations policy. The review sought to address concern with the relatively low 
number of applicants on the register compared to other Lincolnshire authorities and the 
time elapsed from the previous policy review. The key areas reviewed were, 

 How to apply for housing
 Local connection
 Sheltered accommodation qualifying age
 Offers of accommodation. 

1.2 As of October 2019 there are 366 households with a live housing application on the 
Council’s register. This represents a 22% increase on the 300 households previously 
reported to the panel. It should be noted that since April 2019 the Council has housed 122 
households in Council properties and provided 56 nominations to Housing Associations for 
social accommodation. The current demand on the Housing Options Service has seen an 
increase of applicants assessed and accepted in the high band, creating a fluid demand. 

1.3 As part of the updated policy it was agreed that applicants applying for housing would do so 
online. The online application process has been developed in a test environment and is 
ready to be delivered in a live environment. The online system is being delivered in 
conjunction with Northgate, the Council’s current housing software provider. Following 
extensive engagement with the Northgate user group it was determined that the customer 
experience for users of the system in version 6.7.1 could be challenging, a further system 
update to be released at 6.8.1.1 will provide better user functionality. 

1.4 The upgrade to Northgate software was completed in October 2019 and work has now 
recommenced to deliver online application functionality. Customers will access this service 
directly from the Council’s website and we will be promoting interaction by email and other 
electronic media. Support and assistance will be made available to prospective applicants 
where applying online may be prohibitive. 

Page 45

Agenda Item 11.



1.5 Under the revised policy applicants can now demonstrate a local connection by having 
lived in the district for two out of the last five years. This was previously three out of the last 
five years. In the case of a connection through a family member, a connection arises where 
a family member has lived in the district for the last three years, this was formerly five 
years. It is difficult to calculate the number of additional applicants on the register due to the 
relaxation of local connection rules. Feedback from the service suggests that applicants 
who seek to live closer to family members, through preference rather than housing need, 
are more commonly refused entry to the register. 

1.6 The qualifying age for sheltered accommodation was reduced from 62 to 55 under the 
revised policy, and this change appears to have seen the most significant impact. Since 
April 2019 there have been 40 sheltered properties let from the housing register. The 
increased pool of applicants has enabled the team to let properties without lengthy delays 
in finding a suitable applicant. Sheltered bedsit accommodation can on occasion present a 
letting challenge due to low desirability. However, the revised age criteria of 55 has enabled 
faster letting of these units. 

1.7 Applicants were previously entitled to three offers of accommodation from the housing 
register (except in the case of homeless applicants where a main duty is owed). Under the 
revised policy applicants are now entitled to two offers. For general needs accommodation 
the current demand in Homelessness sees the majority of applicants eligible for one offer 
where acceptance rates remain consistently high. Historically the higher level of refusals 
were in sheltered accommodation. The increased pool of applicants for this type of 
accommodation appears to have positively impacted the number of properties accepted at 
the first offer. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 Note the updates provided in the content of the report. 
2.2 Do nothing. 

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION(S)

3.1 The feedback in the report is provided at the request of the panel following previous work 
undertaken on revising the Allocations Policy. The report is focussed on the changes made 
following the last update rather than the entire scope of the policy.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 It is expected that once the online housing application module is live this will bring benefits 
which support the Council’s digital agenda. The upgrade of the module will enable the 
Council to create more robust digital records which demonstrate the probity undertaken in 
assessing an applicant’s housing need. Whilst there is a marginal increase in the number of 
applicants on the register, the partial relaxation appears to have improved the letting of 
sheltered stock. If demand for homeless services reduces it is likely numbers will begin to 
increase on the housing register. 

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

5.1 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues

Page 46



5.1.1 Once applicants are able to apply for housing online this will negate the need for paper 
application forms. 

5.2 Corporate Priorities

5.2.1 Your home: the council seeks to deliver aspirational housing services and be a landlord of 
choice. Improving access to housing services and providing efficient processes contributes 
to this priority.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 All wards.

7.0 ACRONYMS

7.1 N/A. 

Background papers:- N/A. 

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Jason King, Housing Landlord Services Manager
Telephone Number 764671
Email: JasonKing@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: N 

Exempt Decision: N 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service.

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Executive Manager - Governance (Deputy Monitoring Officer)

To: Policy Development Panel – 6 November 2019

(Author: Christine Morgan - Democratic Services Officer)

Subject Policy Development Panel Work Programme

Purpose: To set out the Work Programme of the Policy Development Panel 

Recommendation: 

That the Panel gives consideration to the report and identifies any issues for discussion.

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Background

1.1.1 This report records the issues for consideration that have been identified by the Panel for 
inclusion on its Work Programme.

1.2 Issues

1.2.1 Appendix A sets out the dates of future Panel meetings along with proposed items for 
consideration.  These items were either originally suggested by councillors or are being 
referred to the Panel from officers or the Cabinet.  This appendix will be updated as new 
items are identified.

1.2.2 Appendix B sets out the task groups that have been identified by the Panel.  The table 
shows:

 The name of the task group
 What it wants to achieve
 Key dates
 Membership of the task group
 When the task group will be reporting back to the Panel

1.2.3 It is hoped that in presenting the information in this way, and by having the report as a 
standing item on the agenda, it will record the issues identified by the Panel and provide 
the opportunity for councillors to monitor the progress of its Work Programme.

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 To note and consider the current status of the Work Programme.

2.2 To do nothing.

Page 49

Agenda Item 12.



3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATION

3.1 To allow councillors to feed into the Panel’s calendar of Work Programme items and the 
Work Programme on a regular basis, to ensure that they stay relevant and up to date.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS

4.1 The calendar of Work Programme items and the Work Programme will provide councillors 
with up to date and relevant information.  Timelines for various calendar items and
proposed task groups within the Work Programme are included within the appendices.

5.0 IMPLICATIONS

In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications of the 
decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues; 
Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & Disorder; Equality & 
Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health & Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; 
Safeguarding; Staffing; Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation 
Programme; Other. Where the report author considers that there may be implications under 
one or more of these headings, these are identified below.

5.1 Corporate Priorities

5.1.1 In identifying issues for inclusion on the work programme, councillors consider the 
suitability of the subject, taking into account such considerations as whether the issue is 
strategic and significant and whether it is likely to lead to effective outcomes.  One of the 
indicators against which each potential task group is considered identifies how strongly the 
topic links to the Council's key aims and priorities.

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 This report has no implications however, as individual items are progressed through the 
Work Programme, their impact on wards and communities will be assessed.

7.0 ACRONYMS 

7.1 None.
Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Christine Morgan Democratic Services Officer
Telephone Number 01775 764454
Email: cmorgan@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: No
Exempt Decision: No 

This report refers to a Mandatory Service 

Appendices attached to this report: 

Appendix A Work Programme Calendar
Appendix B Task Group Work Programme 2019/20

Page 50



APPENDIX A

Policy Development Panel – Calendar of Work Programme items

Date of Meeting Agenda items
6 November 2019  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration 

of issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

 Housing Allocations Policy review - Housing Landlord 
Services Manager

 Review of the HMO Licensing Policy – Phil Stacey
 Housing Income Management Policy – Vikki Cherry
 Housing Repairs Policy – Chris Mycock

9 January 2020 (Joint 
meeting of Performance 
Monitoring Panel and Policy 
Development Panel)

 Budget Scrutiny

21 January 2020  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration 
of issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

3 March 2020  Policy Register – standing agenda item.  Consideration 
of issues at meeting only to take place where areas of 
concern, or where more information is required.

Note:

 Long Term Empty Homes – Panel to consider draft strategy when available.

 Taxi Licensing Policy – this policy will now be considered at a future meeting when 
updates have been received on relevant legislation.

Page 51



This page is intentionally left blank



APPENDIX B

POLICY DEVELOPMENT PANEL – WORK PROGRAMME 2019/2020

Name of Task Group What the Task Group wants to 
achieve

Date added 
to Work 
Programme

Date Work 
Commenced    

Membership 
of Task 
Group

Proposed date to 
report back to 
Panel

Status

Public Open Spaces 
Task Group

Scope to be agreed at first 
meeting
To look at the Council’s current 
policies on Public Open Spaces 
and what could be developed to 
help in the future.
In addition, following the 
Performance Monitoring Panel’s 
review of implemented planning 
decisions, some of the 
recommendations arising from 
this review to be addressed 
through the Task Group.

5 July 2016 23 November 
2017

J Astill
L Eldridge
J Reynolds
J 
Tyrrell(Chair
man)
B Alcock 
(PMP)
A M Newton 
(PMP)

Data Protection/Data 
Retention Task Group

To consider the implications of 
forthcoming changes to the Data 
Protection Policy as follows:
 To develop the new policy in 

light of issues raised in the 
gap analysis and legislative 
changes and that a more 
detailed suggested scope 
would be circulated prior to 
the first Task Group 
meeting.

3 October 
2017

11 December 
2017

H Drury
M D McLean
A R Woolf 
(Chairman)
A Harrison 

To PDP 1 May 
2018 
To Cabinet 29 
May 2018

Planning Design Scope to be agreed at a later 
date.

25 July 
2017

To 
commence 

To be 
confirmed

P
age 53



Issues raised are detailed within 
PDP minutes of 25 July 2017.

2018, after 
end of 
examination 
period of 
Local Plan.

Leisure Facilities 
Task Group

Joint Task Group 
incorporating 
members of the 
Performance 
Monitoring and Policy 
Development Panels

To make recommendations, 
regarding the present and future 
leisure     provision in South 
Holland.
1. By establishing what leisure 

provision the District Council 
presently provides, 
examining costs, resident 
satisfaction and 
competitiveness in order to 
identify ways of increasing 
income or reducing 
expenditure;

2. To understand what the 
District Council wishes to 
provide and what the public 
and major employers need; 

3. To examine the options for 
future provision either to be 
supplied by the Council, the 
private sector or shared 
management.

Agreed at PMP 25 November 
2014 – A date for completion of 
the Business Plan looking at 
Leisure Services provision, 
being drawn together by the 
Community Development and 
Health Manager, be confirmed 

30 April 
2013

21 January 
2014

G Aley 
(Chairman)
D Ashby
A Casson
G Dark
R Perkins 
(Vice-
Chairman)
S Slade
E Sneath
S Wilkinson

Lead Officer: 
Phil Adams

* 
Membership 
to be 
considered 
following 
District 
Council 
Election

Interim report 
presented to joint 
PMP/PDP – 19 
August 2014
To Cabinet  7 
October 2014
Tracking of 
recommendations 
to PDP 10 
February 2015 
Update on 
Leisure options to 
PMP 3 March 
2015 (PDP 
members to 
attend PMP 
meeting)

P
age 54



by the Assistant Director 
Community, and that a joint 
meeting of the Performance 
Monitoring Panel and Policy 
Development Panel, for 
consideration of the document, 
be arranged.
Following consideration of the 
update to PMP on 3 March 2015 
(PDP members were invited to 
attend), it was agreed that 
leisure provision must be a 
priority for the Council, and must 
be considered as a priority by 
the next administration following 
the District Council election.

P
age 55



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Recommendation(s):
1) That Members note the Housing Income Management Policy recommended for 

approval by Cabinet on 3rd December 2019. 

SOUTH HOLLAND DISTRICT COUNCIL

Report of: Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health 

To: Policy Development Panel, 6 November 2019 
Cabinet, 3 December 2019

(Author: Vikki Cherry, Housing Services Manager) 

Subject Housing Income Management Policy

Purpose: To note the proposed Housing Income Management Policy 
recommended for approval by Cabinet on 3 December 2019 

1.0 BACKGROUND

1.1 Income collection is one of the key challenges that the Housing service faces 
against a backdrop of Welfare Reform changes and everyday pressure on 
tenant incomes.  Despite this, the Housing Services Team collected 99.6% of 
collectable rent in 2018/19.  The Key Performance Indicator for rent collection is 
96% which is the industry standard. 

1.2 The Housing Income Management Policy sets out the Council’s approach to 
maximising the housing income it receives, including the following:

 rent
 garage license fees
 service charges
 use and occupation charges
 court costs
 chargeable repairs.

1.3 In 2017, the council undertook a fundamental review of a number of Place based 
services. This included all teams within the Housing Service. The focus on the 
review was to

 meet identified savings targets; 
 re-design services to address long-standing cultural and performance 

issues; 
 future proof the services so that they are well placed to meet service 

demands
 ensure best value and high performance in the delivery of frontline 

services.
A phased approach to these objectives has been accomplished with the teams 
now able to move to further process, procedurally redesign and implement 
technological improvements. 

1.4 We have reviewed our approach to income collection to ensure that our  
procedures support our vulnerable tenants and take appropriate action against 
tenants who have the ability to pay charges but choose not to.   

Page 57

Agenda Item 13.



1.5 The Policy seeks to bring together the Council’s established working methods 
with current best practice and legislation. 

2.0 OPTIONS

2.1 That the Housing Income Management Policy is adopted by Cabinet and 
amendments to the appendices of the policy and minor operational 
amendments are delegated to the Housing Landlord Services Manager in 
consultation with Portfolio Holder for Housing and Health. 

2.2 That we do nothing and continue to operate without policies in place.

3.0 REASONS FOR RECOMMENDATIONS

3.1 To provide an updated policy on income collection and to allow for debt to be 
written off and chargeable repairs to be charged.

3.2 The policy sets the Council’s approach to the collection of housing income 
and will be something that Officers and Residents can refer to.

3.3 The Council is at risk of legal challenge without having up to date policies 
regarding income collection in place.

4.0 EXPECTED BENEFITS 

4.1 Increased income collection from items such as chargeable repairs, legal 
approach to income collection (as we did not have a full policy in place), the 
ability to manage debt recovery in a cost effective manner (by not chasing 
debts that are uneconomic to pursue) and the authorisation to write off debts 
that we cannot recover. Reputational benefits whereby we take a firmer 
approach with tenants that have the ability to pay their rent but choose not to.  

5.0 IMPLICATIONS 

5.1 In preparing this report, the report author has considered the likely implications 
of the decision - particularly in terms of Carbon Footprint / Environmental 
Issues; Constitutional & Legal; Contracts; Corporate Priorities; Crime & 
Disorder; Data Protection; Equality & Diversity/Human Rights; Financial; Health 
& Wellbeing; Reputation; Risk Management; Safeguarding; Staffing; 
Stakeholders/Consultation/Timescales; Transformation Programme; Other. 
Where the report author considers that there may be implications under one or 
more of these headings, these are identified below. 

5.2 Carbon Footprint / Environmental Issues
5.2.1 Requirement to issue copies of rent statements more frequently. Initially these will 

be posted out, however software is currently being tested to allow tenants access 
through the My Portal part of the website to review rent statements and pay rent.

5.3   Constitutional & Legal
5.3.2 Housing matters, including this policy, are executive functions and are therefore a 

Page 58



matter for the Cabinet to determine. This policy has been reviewed by Housing 
solicitors, Capsticks, in conjunction with the Strategic Finance and Compliance 
Manager, and the Section 151 Officer.

5.4 Corporate Priorities
5.4.1   This policy supports the following corporate priorities:

 Your home – mitigating and preventing homelessness by manging rent 
arrears quickly and effectively, maximising income collection to allow the 
authority to invest in its housing to deliver high quality housing

 Your health and wellbeing – assessing vulnerable tenants regularly and 
referring to partner agencies to influence and lead early intervention 
activities to support, reduce and prevent complex needs. Working closely 
with the Revenues and Benefits Department to ensure through our Benefits 
service, that residents are given high quality advice to help maximise their 
income and manage their debts

 Our Council – managing income collection effectively to maximise the 
returns generated by the Council’s commercial and operational assets.

5.5 Equality and Diversity / Human Rights
5.5.1 The Council has a duty to take all reasonable and economic steps to recover 

monies due to it. The policies, procedures and practices adopted by the Council in 
this regard are considered to be satisfactory. Any action taken by the Council 
under the policy will be subject to all fundamental human rights obligations.

5.5.2 It is important that we have robust policies and procedures in place that provide a 
clear understanding to the service provider and offer support to our tenants, 
especially the vulnerable elements of our community.

5.5.3 There is a potential for certain groups to be disadvantaged by the terms of the 
policy, for example, tenants on a low income. Tenants may struggle to pay the 
required rent in advance. Officers have the ability to reduce this amount on a case 
by case basis. Assistance is available (in the form of a grant) to existing Housing 
Benefit/Universal Benefit claimants towards rent in advance payments through the 
authority’s Discretionary Housing Payment scheme. Many social landlords require 
one month’s rent in advance. 

5.5.4 Affordable payment arrangements will be available to tenants to repay arrears and 
chargeable repairs. 

5.5.5 Tenants whose first language is not English may require additional support to 
ensure they fully understand the terms of the payment arrangement/court process. 
Copies of the letters will be translated upon request.  Officers have access to 
Language Line telephone translation when visiting tenants in their homes, and in 
the office. 

5.6 Financial
5.6.1 Efficient and effective income collection, including effective arrears management, 

is of financial benefit to the Council, although this is difficult to quantify.

5.6.2 The Housing Services Manager and Housing Landlord Services Manager have 
discretion to accept credit card payment in extenuating circumstances.  Whilst it is 
not encouraged for tenants to accrue debt of any means, credit card debt is 
considered a ‘non-priority debt’ and can be managed and repaid gradually, with 
support of Citizens Advice (if required).  In some cases, payment of arrears on 

Page 59



credit card would allow the tenants to keep their home and avoid approaching 
more risky lenders such as payday loans and/or loan sharks (that we have no 
awareness of).  

5.6.3 Whilst rent is legally due during the notice period following the tenants death, it is 
proposed that no charge will be due when the tenant was in receipt of full Housing 
Benefit/Housing Costs prior to death.  In these circumstances, we can confirm that 
the tenant was on a low income prior to death and is unlikely to leave an estate 
behind.  Often rent arrears are written off when the tenant died in these financial 
circumstances and so this method, reduces officer time and upset for the grieving 
family. Chargeable repairs will also not be charged in this scenario.     

5.7 Health & Wellbeing
5.7.1 Sustainable tenancies will support the health and wellbeing of residents of South 

Holland.

5.8 Reputation
5.8.1 The policy addresses the risk of damage to reputation following legal challenge 

due to the Council acting without relevant policies and procedures in place.

5.8.2 This policy will also adapt the Council’s approach to rent collection and chargeable 
repairs. Rent is a priority debt.

5.9 Risk Management
5.9.1 The Policy should minimise the risk of challenge caused by the lack of a formally 

adopted Policy. The Policy also minimises the risk of reputational damage or 
challenge through inappropriate or unnecessary legal action. The Council’s self-
financing financial plans are placed at significant risk of detriment if the Council 
has poor income collection and high levels of debts. 

5.9.2 Adoption of this policy will mitigate the risk of non-recovery of current and new 
sundry debts by ensuring that there is a common understanding across the 
Council of our approach to debt collection.

5.10 Safeguarding
5.10.1 Vulnerable households will be assessed regularly and referrals made to agencies 

for support. Safeguarding needs are regularly considered for tenants in financial 
difficulty. Officers will be required to carry out two home visits before the case is 
submitted to Court, and cases will need to be signed off by managers at certain 
stages.  Our approach will continue to be to support tenants to rectify their 
financial situation.  We will continue to involve partner agencies and challenge 
where we feel vulnerable households are not receiving the support they require.  
We also have the ability to request direct payment of Universal Credit Housing 
Costs where the tenants are vulnerable to protect their tenancy.   

5.11 Stakeholders / Constitution / Timescales
5.11.1 The Revenues and Benefits Head of Services for PSPS Ltd and the Section 151 

Officer have been consulted and involved in the drafting of this policy.     

6.0 WARDS/COMMUNITIES AFFECTED

6.1 The policy affects all wards.

7.0      ACRONYMS

Page 60



7.1 DWP – Department of Work and Pensions
7.2      DHP – Discretionary Housing Payment 

Background papers:- None

Lead Contact Officer
Name and Post: Vikki Cherry, Housing Services Manager
Telephone Number
Email: vcherry@sholland.gov.uk

Key Decision: Y

Exempt Decision: N – some appendices are exempt 

This report refers to a Discretionary Service 

Appendices attached to this report:
Appendix A Housing Income Management Policy 
Appendix B (exempt) Supplementary reading 
Appendix C (exempt)    Comparison against other Lincolnshire Councils 

Page 61

mailto:vcherry@sholland.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

Housing Income Management Policy

Introduction 
The purpose of this document is to set out the Council’s overall approach to income 
recovery with regard to rent due from properties (temporary and permanent), garages, 
court costs and chargeable repairs.    

The policy aims to ensure income streams are maximised by effective and efficient 
management of accounts.  The Council aims to maximise income from tenants and 
licensees in order to deliver an efficient and effective housing management and 
maintenance service.  We acknowledge that some households will face difficulty in 
managing their responsibility for rent payment.  We will assist vulnerable tenants to 
receive the support they need to sustain their tenancies. 

The Housing Revenue Account Business Plan is predicated on the collection of all 
available rental income streams, so it is essential that income collection performance 
targets are consistently delivered. 

There are increasing budgetary pressures for Housing through both the General Fund 
(GF) and the Housing Revenue Account (HRA). The key drivers exerting and increasing 
these pressures are the ongoing welfare reforms.  

SHDC manages a range of different tenures:
 Introductory tenancies
 Secure tenancies
 Licenses (interim and temporary accommodation) 
 Shared Ownership leases 
 Garage licenses  
 Assured tenancies.  

  
This policy applies to the income and debt recovery of:

 Current rent
 Garage license fees 
 Service charges 
 Use and occupation charges
 Court costs
 Chargeable repairs
 Former tenant arrears.  
 Arrears write off.   

Please note: reference to tenants relates to tenants and licensees

This section should be read in conjunction with the Council’s Housing Repairs and 
Fitness for Habitation Policy and the Council’s Debt Management Policy.  

Legal Framework
The statutory framework for income collection and recovery of council rent is set out in the 
following Acts:

 The Housing Act 1985 - secure tenancies
 The Housing Act 1988 - which provide legal grounds for seeking possession 

assured tenancies and shared ownership properties
 The Housing Act 1996 - introductory tenancies, demoted tenancies and temporary 

Page 63



2

accommodation.

Housing Services must also pay regard to related legislation including the Protection from 
Eviction Act 1977, the Law of Property Act 1925, the General Data Protection Act 2018, 
GDPR, 2018,  Freedom of Information Act 2000, Human Rights Act 1998 and Equality Act 
2010. 

The County Court Civil Procedure Rules set out the requirements for making applications 
for possession, money judgments, and other debt recovery orders. 

Legal casework also influences the approach to income recovery, and specific cases may 
restrict the extent to which debts may be recovered. For example, Harlow v Hall (2006) 
and bankruptcy, Individual Voluntary Arrangements (IVAs) and Debt Relief Orders.
 
Individual Voluntary Arrangements (IVAs) and Debt Relief Orders can cause delays in 
collecting rent arrears from tenants who seek these types of relief, in some cases 
postponing the date for long periods before we are able to recover some of the monies 
owed.  

The Welfare Reform Act 2012 introduced welfare benefits reform aimed at reducing 
reliance on welfare benefits and promoting a back to work culture.  In November 2016, 
the Benefit Cap reduced the amount of Housing Benefit a tenant could receive.  South 
Holland became a live service for Universal Credit in July 2018.  Once fully implemented, 
Universal Credit will require working age tenants to be directly responsible for paying their 
own rent. 

Aims and Objectives
The overall strategic aim is to apply a firm but fair approach to managing income, which 
takes account of individual tenant circumstances, and is sensitive to equality 
considerations including vulnerability, language spoken, age and literacy.
 
We aim to provide an income recovery and arrears management process that combines 
efficient debt recovery processes with arrears prevention.  Housing Neighbourhood 
Officers will provide advice and assistance or signpost tenants to partner agencies. 
Advice may include income maximisation, benefit assessments, debt management, 
financial inclusion, impartial legal advice and floating support.  We will engage with 
tenants to identify vulnerabilities at the earliest opportunity and will assist in identifying 
and securing appropriate support in order for tenants to manage their rent and sustain 
their home.  We will pursue all possible avenues of recovery including legal remedies 
where tenants refuse to engage/reduce their debt and have the means to do so.  Options 
available include debt recovery agencies, Money Judgment Orders, Attachment of 
Earnings and taking possession of homes.  In accordance with good practice, the Council 
will not seize an individual’s goods or possessions as a means of collecting debt.  

We will accept the following rent payment frequencies:
 weekly 
 fortnightly 
 four weekly
 calendar monthly  

Rent should be paid in advance.  

The Council offers a wide range of payment methods:

Page 64



3

 Direct Debit 
 Standing Order
 Debit Card 
 Allpay Card
 Post office
 SHDC automated telephone service 
 SHDC online payments 
 Internet Banking
 Credit Card is accepted in extenuating circumstances subject to approval from the 

Housing Services Manager or Housing Landlord Services Manager.  

We will promote:
 a culture of rent payment responsibility with all tenants
 Direct Debit as the preferred payment method. 

The foundation for effective income management begins from the first point of contact 
with a new tenant.  We will ensure that:

 information about the importance of paying rent is profiled 
 we are proactive in brokering support to complete benefit applications (where 

applicable)
 new tenants are informed of who to contact about rent payment, and where to get 

help if they get into debt
 we assess tenant’s support needs, including income and expenditure, at the stage 

of offering the property to ensure that support agencies are in place before moving 
and the property is affordable  

 we complete 3 home visits during the first 12 months – during this time a review of 
the households circumstances will be carried out and any support needs discussed 

 we work proactively with tenants to assist them with complying with their tenancy 
terms and conditions, including signposting them for support and advice

 we comply with the provisions of the Pre-Action Protocol for rent arrears
 we set realistic repayment arrangements with tenants
 we get to know our tenants to understand their lifestyle and personal 

circumstances, where possible, to ensure that their support needs are being met 
and the best channels to communicate with them.     

We will ensure that:
 direct personal contact is used as the preferred method of contact
 we keep tenants informed at each stage of the debt recovery process.
 we make effective use of new technology to inform tenants of money owed 
 we confirm payment arrangements in writing
 we focus on supporting tenants with health or financial vulnerabilities 
 we take enforcement action against those that have the ability to pay their rent but 

choose not to make payments/engage with us
 we consider the wider housing context when taking enforcement action that may 

lead to a larger cost elsewhere in the public system.

We will:
 maintain close working links with Housing Benefit and the Department of Work and 

Pensions (DWP) 
 use in-house resources to help tenants to complete Housing Benefit, Universal 

Credit and Discretionary Housing Payment applications
 provide information about changes to welfare benefits
 refer tenants to advice and support agencies including arranging home visits from 

DWP for vulnerable tenants
 request direct payment of Housing Costs (from Universal Credit) to protect the 

Page 65



4

tenancy for vulnerable tenants
 carry out basic benefit assessments to determine if the household is entitled to 

additional income that they are not receiving.

Tenants’ Responsibilities
The term ‘tenant’ includes sole and any joint tenants.  If two or more people have signed 
the tenancy agreement (joint tenants), they are jointly and severally liable for the payment 
of rent.  This means that each person is fully responsible for the payment of rent, charges 
and any other tenancy related debt.  We may pursue one or both tenants for the full sum 
of arrears depending on circumstances.    
 
Tenants have an obligation under the Terms and Conditions of their Tenancy Agreement 
to pay rent in full and on time - failure to do so puts their home at risk.  It is the tenant’s 
responsibility to notify the Council of any changes in their circumstances, which may 
affect their ability to pay their rent.  It is also their responsibility to inform any agencies 
such as Housing Benefit and Universal Credit of a change in their circumstances.  

Four weeks rent in advance is required to be paid up front for tenancies that commence 
on/after 1st July 2019 (as per new tenancy agreement terms).  This payment is also 
required from existing council tenants if they are offered a property as a tenancy transfer 
through the Housing Register.  This payment is required prior to signing the tenancy 
agreement – the tenancy will not commence until this payment is received. This will not 
be treated as a deposit.  In extenuating circumstances, a Housing Manager has discretion 
to reduce the amount due, however tenants on a low income will be able to apply for 
Discretionary Housing Payment for a grant of this amount.  This income protects the rent 
account when tenants have a change in circumstances, and allows them time to resolve 
the issue before falling into arrears on their account. 

Recovery Action

Current Rent arrears 
South Holland District Council maximises income collected.  Rent arrears are rent 
payments which are overdue, this includes service charges. Payment of rent is due in 
advance on the first Monday of each week, or as specified otherwise in the agreement. 
We will formally consider an account to be in arrears where rent due has not been paid by 
midnight on the following Sunday. We will actively encourage tenants to build a credit on 
the account in order to maintain a nil or credit balance at all times.  New tenants are 
required to pay four weeks rent in advance before their tenancy commences.  

Housing Neighbourhood Officers will:
 attempt to make personal contact with the tenant through a variety of means 

including telephone, text message, email, letter and home visits at every stage of 
the rent arrears escalation process (For legal reasons, some arrears actions must 
be put in writing)   

 review tenants circumstances at each stage of the process, where possible, to 
ensure that, wherever possible, vulnerabilities/support needs are being met

 offer tenants support with maximising income by referring cases to Citizens 
Advice and partner support agencies

Page 66



5

 post rent statements to tenants on an annual basis and with each arrears letter 
 set reasonable repayment schedules
 deliver targeted communications to tenants to raise awareness of their 

responsibilities for payment of rent, support available and action taken if payment 
is not made

 clearly communicate with tenants the implications of failing to engage with us and, 
failing to reduce and clear arrears

 work closely with Housing Benefit and Universal Credit authorities where 
appropriate.   

 
If tenants owe the Council rent, we will seek to establish the reasons why this has not 
been paid.  Where tenants are vulnerable and have support needs, we will ensure that we 
have discussed ways to meet these needs and involve the relevant agencies.  Where 
tenants have financial difficulties, we will offer benefit health checks and debt advice 
appointments.  We will take enforcement action against tenants that refuse to engage 
and/or have the means to pay their rent.  In the first instance, we will expect arrears to be 
cleared within 7 days in full.  If this is not possible, we will give the tenant an opportunity 
to make agreements to repay the arrears, and should they keep to the arrangement, we 
will not take further action.  We will make contact with tenants throughout the process, 
and when appropriate, will involve external agencies that we know are supporting the 
tenants.  We will seek to reach realistic repayment agreements to clear arrears promptly 
and successfully.  Agreements should be mutual, affordable and realistic and should 
reflect consideration of the tenant's financial circumstances. We will carefully explain the 
consequences of not reaching and maintaining a repayment agreement.  

Housing Officers will ensure that introductory tenants have clear rent accounts at the 
point they are eligible to become secure tenants.  Where rent arrears exist, the Housing 
Services Manager will review the case, including the personal circumstances of the 
tenant, and determine whether the tenancy should be extended for a further six months or 
a Notice of Seeking Possession served.  

We will consider applying for direct deduction from a tenant's benefits where this is a 
viable option. We will also consider Money Judgment Orders, and may pursue an 
attachment of earnings or other enforcement action.  We may still pursue eviction where 
this fails as a result in the reduction or elimination of arrears.  We will take action to 
repossess a property due to rent arrears as a last resort, and where arrears are 
significant and persistent.  Court action is necessary when tenants repeatedly refuse help, 
fail to engage/address their arrears, or cease to give appropriate priority to the payment of 
their rent.   

We will act in accordance with Pre-Court Action Protocol and ensure that cases are 
reviewed by the Housing Services Manger before applying for a possession hearing, and 
all requests for eviction are authorised by the Housing Landlord Services Manager.  In the 
case of an SHDC staff member, consideration will be given that all other appropriate 
recovery options have been exhausted and the Housing Landlord Services Manager will 
be involved before applying for a possession hearing.  Where requested, we will support 

Page 67



6

informal request for direct wage deductions for staff members.  We will encourage tenants 
to attend Court hearings and advise them to seek impartial legal advice.  We will seek to 
recover Court costs from tenants, except in extenuating circumstances.  

Former tenant arrears and charges 
Arrears remaining once tenancies have been terminated are known as Former Tenant 
Arrears (FTAs). The recovery of FTA’s will be managed by the Housing Services Team in 
conjunction with the Business Support Team.  The recovery of charges will be managed 
centrally by the Housing Business Support Team in conjunction with Public Sector 
Partnership Services Ltd (PSPS).  

Outgoing tenants will be advised of the requirement to pay all rent due (plus any charges 
including repairs and court costs) at the exit interview, and in the letter acknowledging the 
termination.  We will seek a forwarding address for all tenants.  

The cost of pursuing the debt will be balanced against the likelihood of recovery and the 
level of debt. We will consider all cost effective means of recovery, including writing to the 
individual (where we have a forwarding address), employing an external debt collection 
agency to recover the debts and taking court action.  Payment arrangements will be 
considered. 

The Allocations and Lettings Policy states that an individual will not be able to access the 
Housing Register whilst they have a housing related debt, unless they have entered into 
an acceptable payment arrangement.

Rent remains payable following the death of a tenant until the required 28 days’ notice 
has expired and the tenancy legally terminated.  Housing Benefit or Universal Credit will 
cease payment on the Sunday following the death of a tenant, and the tenant's estate will 
be responsible for meeting the rent payment and clearing any arrears due.  We will not 
charge rent during the notice period in cases where the tenant was in receipt of full 
Housing Benefit/Housing Costs.  Communication will be with the next of kin, executor of 
estate, or the Public Trustee.  

We will seek to recover all outstanding debt.  However there are particular circumstances 
where debt is irrecoverable and the Council has no alternative but to consider write off. 
We will not write off debts without taking appropriate steps to recover them.   We will set 
the same debt categories and principles of recovery as specified in the SHDC/PSPS Ltd 
Debt Write Off Operational Policy.  Please note – debts relating to garage fees, properties 
that we manage on behalf of a private landlord e.g. Broadgate Homes and temporary 
accommodation will be pursued and written off outside of the HRA.  Debts will be 
presented to the Section 151 Officer and/or Cabinet for consideration of write off. 

Rent refunds 
We will monitor credit balances on account and advise tenants of the option to request a 
refund.  We will consider all requests for refund of credit on account.  Requests must be 
made in writing and signed by tenants.  

Refunds will be awarded at our discretion; we will take into consideration the payment 
method, payment patterns and circumstances in order to prevent the tenant from falling 
into arrears in the future.  When refunding money, will ensure that the rent accounts 
remain a minimum of 4 weeks in credit for tenancies that were signed up to our new 

Page 68



7

tenancy agreement on or after 1st July 2019. We will offset recoverable debt from a credit 
balance before issuing a refund – this includes former tenant arrears, court costs, 
chargeable repairs and Housing Benefit overpayments.  We will not normally refund 
credits that are statute barred and have been written on to our financial accounts.  

Chargeable repairs 
Chargeable repairs includes repair work that may be required due to tenant damage, non-
standard alterations, or for the cost of clearing redundant possessions that are left by 
tenants when they vacate the property. 

We aim to improve the recovery of costs associated with chargeable repairs and to deter 
misuse or neglect of Council property by tenants.  By identifying and recovering these 
costs, it enables the Council to reinvest the money to help improve services and 
properties which will ultimately benefit our tenants.

With the support of PSPS, Housing Officers aim to recover the cost of:
 repairs due to damage, neglect, misuse or abuse by tenants, their family or visitors 

to their property
 clearing tenants’ redundant possessions when a property is vacated 
 any work carried out by the Council or its contractors to repair or maintain the 

property that would normally be the responsibility of the tenant.   

Note: tenants will have the option to arrange for chargeable repairs to be completed 
themselves but the work must be to Council standards.  If it isn’t up to the required 
standard, the Council will charge the tenant for the necessary alterations.    

Chargeable items will be identified by a number of means including:
 when a customer reports a repair by telephone via Customer Services 
 when a contractor goes to a property to complete a repair 
 when a Council representative visits a property to undertake an inspection or to 

meet with a tenant 
 when a Council representative undertakes a void (empty home) inspection. 

The following are examples of when a tenant would be charged:
 repairs needed because of deliberate or wilful damage or loss caused by the 

tenant to any part of the structure or fabric of the building that extends beyond 
normal wear and tear

 repairs carried out by the Council which are the responsibility of the tenant
 alterations made to the property without permission or are not carried out to a 

reasonable standard, and the Council is required to reverse the alteration and 
make good  

 the home has become empty due to bereavement and the Council is required to 
empty the property - this would be charged to the deceased estate

 clearing out void properties - this includes any waste or redundant tenant 
possessions that may be left in the home, roof space or any outbuildings

 costs incurred from carrying out work associated with fumigation/disinfestations of 
a property

 cost to restore gardens to an acceptable and manageable condition 
 blocked drains that are inside of the property boundary and the cause of the 

blockage has been established as being through the negligence of the tenant e.g. 

Page 69



8

cooking fat down the sink, baby nappies and/or baby wipes flushed down the toilet 
etc. 

 inappropriate emergency call outs including where no emergency work is 
needed, the emergency was reported during office hours but the tenant failed to 
provide access, or  where the repair had already been reported and logged, and 
the resident has been informed that it is not an emergency.  (Where an emergency 
call is made to report a repair out of hours, the Council will inform the tenant that 
they may be charged the cost of the call out if, on inspection, the call out is 
inappropriate)

 repeat missed appointments with contractors.  

The following items will not be recharged to a tenant:
 where damage has been caused by a third party who is not a member of the 

household, or visitor, for example, a break in or vandalism. The tenant will not be 
charged the cost of the repair as long as they have reported the crime to the Police 
and obtained a crime reference number. If this number is not obtained, the cost of 
the repair will be charged to the tenant. 

 blocked drains outside of the property boundary. In these instances, tenants 
should contact Anglian Water as they will usually have responsibility to unblock the 
drain. 

We will set the cost of chargeable repairs in one of following ways: 
 repairs will be charged at Schedule of Rates charges plus 15% admin fee. VAT will 

be applied to this fee when items are the responsibility of the tenant and the 
tenancy is current.   A summary of the most common items will be made available 
to tenants.  

 property clearance will be recharged at cost plus 15% admin fee. VAT will be 
applied to this fee when items are the responsibility of the tenant and the tenancy 
is current.     

 where call out charges are applicable, they will be charged at the Schedule of 
Rates plus 15% admin fee.  VAT will be applied to this fee when items are the 
responsibility of the tenant and the tenancy is current.   

There are two ways that the Council will recharge; 
 payment will be required before the repair is carried out for minor repairs such as 

lost keys, damaged internal doors, damaged wall plaster, broken light fittings etc.   
Where a tenant is unable to make the necessary payment prior to works being 
booked, the call will not be booked until the tenant is in a position to be able to 
afford the charge. In exceptional circumstances, the call will be referred to a 
Housing Manager for discretionary authorisation.  (Repairs required in an 
emergency or for health and safety reasons will be completed and invoiced).  

 invoices will be raised after major repairs have been completed such as 
replacement front entrance door, damaged kitchen units, broken double glazed 
window.  This includes cases where:

o unlicensed alterations have been carried out 
o emergency health and safety repairs have to be ordered 
o the recharge is identified after a repair is carried out.     

 if the tenant has ended or seeks to end their tenancy they will be allowed 28 
calendar days, to settle the invoice before action is taken to enforce the 
outstanding invoice.

Page 70



9

These sundry debts will be pursued by PSPS in line with the Council’s Debt Management 
Policy.  

In certain cases, the Council may decide not to charge the tenant. The Property Asset 
Manager, Housing Repairs Manager or the Housing Services Manager (or the Housing 
Landlord Services Manager) may exercise discretion as outlined below: 

 where damage has been caused to a property accidentally and all the evidence 
supports this 

 households where all members have either a learning disability, a registered 
physical disability (that prevents them from carrying out their obligated repairs), or 
a debilitating medical or mental health condition.  Where households do not have 
the ability to maintain their property, we will support rehousing to a more suitable 
property e.g. a property with a smaller garden 

 where the repair is due to everyday wear and tear and/or is a Health and 
Safety concern

 where a property is void following the death of a tenant and the tenant was in 
receipt of full Housing Benefit/Housing Costs prior to death. 

Priority order for paying back debts
When people have multiple housing related debts and are paying them back, debts will be 
credited in the following order: 

a) Rent arrears on current tenancy 
b) Court costs relating to current tenancy 
c) Other housing debts in order of oldest debt first/debt most practicable to recover.    

Performance Monitoring
The targets for rent arrears and chargeable repairs are set annually, and performance is 
kept under review through individual and team meetings, and performance reports.

Data Protection
Officers will treat all information about customers and service users with the utmost 
confidentiality and comply with the requirement of the General Data Protection Regulation 
Act 2018 (and subsequent amendments).  

Page 71



This page is intentionally left blank



Document is Restricted

Page 73

Agenda Item 16.
By virtue of paragraph(s) 3 of Part 1 of Schedule 12Aof the Local Government Act 1972.



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2. Minutes
	7. Key Decision Plan
	8. Policy Register
	9. Housing Repairs Policy
	Appendix 1 for Housing Repairs Policy

	10. Review of HMO Licensing Policy
	11. Review of the revised Allocations Policy
	12. Policy Development Panel Work Programme
	Appendix A
	Appendix B

	13. Housing Income Management Policy
	Appendix 1 for Housing Income Management Policy

	16. Housing Income Management Policy

